IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRCINIA

THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

FILE COPY

V.

DAVID EUGENE HALL

Appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court of Mercer County (20-F-157-WS)

> Counsel *for* David Hall's Petition

Counsel for David Hall.

Bobby J. Erickson, Esq. Hager and Lawson, PLLC 1460 East Main Street Princeton, WV 24740 Phone (304) 431-3492 WV State Bar #: 13882

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR ALLEGED BY PETITIONER

- I. The Lower Court failed to consider all mandatory factors when sentencing Petitioner as required by West Virginia Code §61-11-23.
- II. The Lower Court erred by imposing a disproportionate sentence to the offense committed due to Petitioner's diminished mental capacity and age.

1. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 28, 2019, Petitioner and his family were in the Princeton, West Virginia area for Thanksgiving. During their stay at a local hotel B. D., Petitioner's half-sister, claims that he

entered her room and grabbed the strings of her bathing suit, removing it. At that time, the victim stated that Hall threw her on the bed, took his shorts off and laid on top of her. The victim stated that Hall grabbed her wrist and proceeded to insert his penis into her vagina...

(App. at 179). Petitioner's mother, A.B., because of this incident decided that Petitioner was "grounded for 'at least three months." (Id.). On January 22, 2020, the victim, B.D., was taken to the hospital for "nausea, vomiting and a reduction in her appetite." (App. at 181). During this hospital visit, B.D. changed her statement regarding the sequence of events claiming that Petitioner solicited intercourse from her for the cost of a phone card. (Id.). B.D. was subsequently given a pregnancy test, and the results showed that Petitioner was pregnant. (Id.).

Petitioner was charged and arrested on February 3, 2020, for the offense of "Sexual Assault-1st Degree." Petitioner's case was transferred from the juvenile jurisdiction of the Lower Court to the Adult Criminal Jurisdiction of the Lower Court on July 2, 2020. This was done according to West Virginia Code §49-4-710. (W.Va. Code §49-4-710). Petitioner then waived indictment and pled by information to the offense of "Sexual Assault-2nd Degree" on August 19, 2020. (App. at 47-86). At that August 19, 2020, hearing, the Lower Court ordered that Petitioner complete a sexual offender evaluation and be sent to Sam Purdue Juvenile center to complete a juvenile sex offender program. (App. at 81, Line 19-23). The Lower Court then deferred actual adjudication until after completion of the Sam Purdue juvenile sex offender program. Upon completion of this program the Lower Court planned to "bring him back for further [sic] sentencing then and put him on probation." (Id.). On October 25, 2021, Petitioner was returned to the Lower Court from Sam Perdue for being "non-compliant." (App. at 229-230).

The Lower Court, on March 1, 2021, adjudged Petitioner guilty of "Sexual Assault-Second Degree." The Lower Court sentenced Petitioner to "not less than ten (10) nor more than twenty-five (25) years," for the single offense of "Sexual Assault-Second Degree." (App. 115-116). The Lower Court then suspend the sentence to allow Petitioner to complete the "Young Adult Offender Program" at the Anthony Correctional Center. (App. 115-116). Petitioner had issues at the Anthony Center and was returned as unfit to the Lower Court on July 12, 2021. (App. at 233-234). At the next hearing on July 21, 2021, the Lower Court, after having removed Petitioner from the Anthony Center, imposed the underlying sentence of "not less than ten (10) nor more than twenty-five (25) years," and Petitioner was subsequently incarcerated. (App. at P236).

2. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner's case is ripe for decision by Memorandum Opinion as the law contemplated within Petitioner's Assignments of Error is well-settled. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

3. ARGUMENT

I. The Lower Court failed to consider all mandatory factors when sentencing

Petitioner as required by West Virginia Code §61-11-23.

According to West Virginia Code §61-11-23(c), there are fifteen (15) factors that the Court

"Shall Consider" when sentencing a juvenile whose case has been transferred from the Juvenile

Jurisdiction to the Adult Criminal Jurisdiction of the Lower Court. (West Virginia Code §61-11-

23(c)). West Virginia Code §61-11-23(c) states,

(c) In addition to other factors required by law to be considered prior to the imposition of a sentence, in determining the appropriate sentence to be imposed on a person who has been transferred to the criminal jurisdiction of the court pursuant to §49-4-710 of this code and who has been subsequently tried and convicted of a felony offense as an adult, the court shall consider the following mitigating circumstances:

- (1) Age at the time of the offense;
- (2) Impetuosity;
- (3) Family and community environment;
- (4) Ability to appreciate the risks and consequences of the conduct;
- (5) Intellectual capacity;

(6) The outcomes of a comprehensive mental health evaluation conducted by a mental health professional licensed to treat adolescents in the State of West Virginia: Provided, That no provision of this section may be construed to require that a comprehensive mental health evaluation be conducted;

- (7) Peer or familial pressure;
- (8) Level of participation in the offense;
- (9) Ability to participate meaningfully in his or her defense;
- (10) Capacity for rehabilitation;
- (11) School records and special education evaluations;
- (12) Trauma history;
- (13) Faith and community involvement;
- (14) Involvement in the child welfare system; and
- (15) Any other mitigating factor or circumstances.

(West Virginia Code §61-11-23(c)). These factors must be considered any time "a person

[who] has been transferred to the criminal jurisdiction of the court pursuant to §49-4-710

of this code and who has been subsequently tried and convicted of a felony offense as an adult." (West Virginia Code 61-11-23(c).)

In the case at bar, the State filed a "Motion to Transfer to Criminal Jurisdiction" on August 19, 2020, according to West Virginia Code §49-4-710. Petitioner pled to and was convicted of the offense "Sexual Assault-Second Degree." (App. at 47-86). A Dispositional Hearing was held on October 26, 2020, where the Lower Court ordered Petitioner "to complete the sex offender program at Sam Purdue Juvenile Center" with the criminal disposition deferred until completion of the program. (App. at 87-95; at 229-230; at 115-116, and;. at 233-234). The Lower Court then imposed Petitioner's underlying sentence on July 21, 2021. (An indeterminate period of not less than ten (10) nor more than twenty-five (25) years) (App. at 151-168).

The issue here is that the Lower Court considered only the traditional grounds regarding for Petitioner's sentencing; particularly why Petitioner was not a candidate for alternative sentencing

for the following reasons: (1) there is a substantial risk that the defendant will commit another crime during any period of alternative sentencing; (2) alternative sentencing would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the Defendant's crime; (3) the public good would not be served by the Court granting the Defendant an alternative sentence and (4) the public good would be served by the Court imposing a sentence of actual incarceration.

(App. 151-168).

As stated above, the issue here is that the Court considered only traditional grounds for why Petitioner was not a candidate for alternative sentencing. The only reasons provided by the Lower Court were,

there is a substantial risk that the defendant will commit another crime during any period of alternative sentencing; (2) alternative sentencing would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the Defendant's crime; (3) the public good would not be served by the Court granting the Defendant an alternative sentence and (4) the public good would be served by the Court imposing a sentence of actual incarceration

(*Id.*). These considerations fall well short of the significant considerations required by West Virginia Code §61-11-23(c), which states that a Court sentencing a Defendant whose case has been transferred pursuant to West Virginia Code §49-4-710 from the Juvenile to Adult Criminal Jurisdiction of the Lower Court "shall consider" the abovementioned fifteen (15) factors. As discussed below, the Lower Courts' consideration of all factors was deficient.

A. Age at the time of the offense

An offender's age should significantly affect the sentence imposed upon an offender.

The United States Supreme Court and the West Virginia Supreme Court have both found

as such. This Court, while considering an issue involving juvenile sentencing in

Christopher J. v. Ames quoted the United States Supreme Court when it stated,

Three general differences between juveniles under 18 and adults demonstrate that juvenile offenders cannot with reliability be classified among the worst offenders. First, as any parent knows and as the scientific and sociological studies respondent and his *amici* cite tend to confirm, "[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young. These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions." *Johnson, supra*, at 367; see also *Eddings, supra*, at 115–116 ("Even the normal 16-year-old customarily lacks the maturity of an adult"). It has been noted that "adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." Arnett, Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective, 12 Developmental Review 339 (1992). In recognition of the comparative immaturity and irresponsibility of juveniles, almost every State prohibits those under 18 years of age from voting, serving on juries, or marrying without parental consent. See Appendixes B–D, *infra*.

The second area of difference is that juveniles are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including peer pressure. *Eddings, supra*, at 115 ("[Y]outh is more than a chronological fact. It is a time and condition of life when a person may be most susceptible to influence and

to psychological damage"). This is explained in part by the prevailing circumstance that juveniles have less control, or less experience with control, over their own environment. See Steinberg & Scott, Less Guilty by Reason of Adolescence: Developmental Immaturity, Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty, 58 Am. Psychologist 1009, 1014 (2003) (hereinafter Steinberg & Scott) ("[A]s legal minors, [juveniles] lack the freedom that adults have to extricate themselves from a criminogenic setting").

The third broad difference is that the character of a juvenile is not as well formed as that of an adult. The personality traits of juveniles are more transitory, less fixed. See generally E. Erikson, Identity: Youth and Crisis (1968).

These differences render suspect any conclusion that a juvenile falls among the worst offenders. The susceptibility of juveniles to immature and irresponsible behavior means "their irresponsible conduct is not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult." *Thompson, supra,* at 835 (plurality opinion). Their own vulnerability and comparative lack of control over their immediate surroundings mean juveniles have a greater claim than adults to be forgiven for failing to escape negative influences in their whole environment. (Roper v. Simmons)

Christopher J. v. Ames, 214 W.Va. 822 (2019) quoting Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551

(2005).

The Lower Court did state,

I think everybody in the Courtroom, from the defense counsel to even the State to a certain extent, recognized the fact that Mr. Hall was --, you know, as a juvenile when this was – was committed and for that reason, gave him every chance in the world not to have to go to the penitentiary. That's just the simplest way I could put it.

(App. at 151-168). Petitioner, however, argues that adequate consideration is not paid to

the fact that he was a minor at the time the offense was committed and at sentencing. The

United States Supreme Court made this point abundantly clear in their opinion regarding

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). (Miller v.

Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012). In Miller, the United

States Supreme Court stated, "Children are constitutionally different from adults, and

criminal sentences must take their status as children, and the accompanying emotional, psychological, and developmental differences into account." (*Miller*, 567 U.S. at 460.)

B. Impetuosity

The Court is directed to consider Defendant's "Impetuosity." Impetuosity is defined as "the quality or state of being impetuous." (Impetuosity, 2022).¹ Impetuous is defined as being "likely to do something suddenly without considering the results of your actions." (impetuous, 2022)². In *Roper*, the Supreme Court stated,

[a] lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility are found in youth more often than in adults and are more understandable among the young. These qualities often result in impetuous and ill-considered actions and decisions." *Johnson, supra*, at 367; see also *Eddings, supra*, at 115–116 ("Even the normal 16-year-old customarily lacks the maturity of an adult"). It has been noted that "adolescents are overrepresented statistically in virtually every category of reckless behavior." Arnett, Reckless Behavior in Adolescence: A Developmental Perspective, 12 Developmental Review 339 (1992). In recognition of the comparative immaturity and irresponsibility of juveniles, almost every State prohibits those under 18 years of age from voting, serving on juries, or marrying without parental consent. See Appendixes B–D, *infra*.

Miller, 567 U.S. at 470-471. At no time during the July 21, 2021, Dispositional hearing

did the lower Court consider impetuosity in sentencing Petitioner in this matter.

Additionally, neither the Psychological Evaluations nor the Pre-Sentence Investigation

reports mention impetuosity as a factor for consideration. (App. at 169-199) and (App. at

200-218).

C. Family and community environment, including family and peer pressure.

¹ Merriam Webster Dictionary. 2022. *impetuosity*. [online] Available at: <https://www.merriamwebster.com/dictionary/impetuosity#:~:text=Definition%20of%20impetuosity,an%20impetuous%20 action%20or%20impulse> [Accessed 8 February 2022].

² Dictionary.cambridge.org. 2022. *impetuous*. [online] Available at:

<a>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/us/dictionary/english/impetuous> [Accessed 8 February 2022].

Considering family and environmental factors is a necessary procedure when sentencing a juvenile who is in the Adult Criminal Jurisdiction of a court. A juvenile has little control but is forced to internalize their surroundings. Once again, the United States Supreme Court and this Court have provided reasoning for this. In *Christopher J.* this Court cited *Miller* when it stated that juveniles have, "limited control over their own environment and lack the ability to extricate themselves from horrific crime producing settings." (*Miller*, 567 U.S. at 470-471).

In the case at bar, there were multiple issues regarding Petitioner's family life and his mothers' involvement in the matters before the Lower Court. These issues regarding Petitioner's family and home life are addressed in court documents as far back as the Criminal Complaint. In the Criminal Complaint Victim claims that her and Petitioner's mother had only taken very limited disciplinary actions toward Petitioner, such as grounding and taking Petitioner's phone as if he had committed some infraction of house rules. (App. at 175-182). This issue with the mother's interaction with and influence over Petitioner even cause issues at the psychological evaluation. The family dynamic was of such concern to the evaluator that he recommends that Petitioner and his mother's contact be limited. The evaluator in their report stated, "I am particularly concerned about the role that Ms. Banes plays in the life of Mr. Hall daily." (App. at 182-199). However, the Lower Court failed to consider this or give it any weight at sentencing.

The second issue at bar here is how juveniles like Petitioner are susceptible to peer and familial pressure. The United States Supreme Court found in *Miller* that children "are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside pressures, including from their family and peers." (*Miller*, 567 U.S. at 570). Once again, these issues came up

Hall 8

as far back as the criminal complaint where Petitioner's mother is dismissive of Petitioner's conduct. (App. at 175-182).

During the September 3rd psychological evaluation, Petitioner's mother, A.B., made so many comments attacking the baseline validity of the factual evidence presented against Petitioner that the evaluator stated, "such a position has consistently resulted in Mr. Hall's position being reinforced. He has readily heard his mother make the statements, including during the clinical interview. There is no doubt that this has been counterproductive." (App. at 269). Once again, there is no record to show that the Lower Court considered these factors.

D. Intellectual capacity

The intellectual capacity of a juvenile is reduced compared to that of an adult. This means that, to some degree, culpability is reduced as well. The issue worsens when a juvenile has limited mental capacity, as Petitioner does. Petitioner has an I.Q. ranging from 65 to 70, and all evaluations for general skills and tests ran through the three evals show that Petitioner has had these limitations since childhood. (App. at 183-199), (App. at 200-218), and (App. at 219-223). Nowhere else is this made more apparent than when the evaluator in the September 3, 2020 psychological evaluation stated, "even if he is admitting what happened, I am confident that he has no real appreciation for what the resulting consequences are, to include specifically for the victim." (App. at 183-199).

The Lower Court failed to consider any of this in making its decision.

The factors considered by the Lower Court were extremely limited. The factors mentioned in the order were limited to the form factors the Lower Courts of Mercer County tend to use as form language, which included for the following reasons: (1) there is a substantial risk that the defendant will commit another crime during any period of alternative sentencing; (2) alternative sentencing would unduly depreciate the seriousness of the Defendant's crime; (3) the public good would not be served by the Court granting the Defendant an alternative sentence and (4) the public good would be served by the Court imposing a sentence of actual incarceration.

(App. at 233-238). Of the remaining nine (9) factors, which included,

(6) The outcomes of a comprehensive mental health evaluation conducted by a mental health professional licensed to treat adolescents in the State of West Virginia: Provided, That no provision of this section may be construed to require that a comprehensive mental health evaluation be conducted; ... (8) Level of participation in the offense; (9) Ability to participate meaningfully in his or her defense; (10) Capacity for rehabilitation;
(11) School records and special education evaluations; (12) Trauma history;
(13) Faith and community involvement; (14) Involvement in the child welfare

system; and (15) Any other mitigating factor or circumstances.

(W.Va. Code § 61-11-23(c).) The only one of these nine (9) factors that the Lower Court considered was his capacity for rehabilitation which the Lower Court attempted to address by listing off the programs Petitioner was sent to. Even then, however there was no actual consideration made for the mitigating factors. (App. at 151-168).

The Lower Court's failure to consider all necessary factors means that the sentence imposed is improper. The legislature intended for the Lower Court to consider all of the specifically enumerated factors and all additional mitigating factors when a minor is being sentenced in a matter transferred to the criminal docket of that court pursuant to West Virginia Code §49-4-710. W.Va. §61-11-23(c), and W. Va. Code §49-4-710. Failure to rectify this failure would set a dangerous precedent for how not only minors could be sentenced in contravention of the Code but also how a potentially less culpable person can be sentenced harshly or unfairly.

II. The lower court erred by imposing a disproportionate sentence to the offense committed due to Petitioner's diminished mental capacity and age.

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