FILE COPY



DO NOT REMOVE

FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA OF WEST

Docket No. 21-0904

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID EUGENE HALL, JR.,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the October 6, 2021, Order Circuit Court of Mercer County Case No. 20-F-157

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833 Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

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

With respect to the procedures following one's confinement at the Anthony Center, this

Court has held:

Where a criminal defendant has been placed on probation after successfully completing a program of rehabilitation under the Youthful Offenders Act, W. Va. Code §§ 25-4-1 to -12, and such probation is subsequently revoked, the circuit court has no discretion under W. Va. Code 25-4-6 to impose anything other than the sentence that the defendant would have originally received had he or she not been committed to a youthful offender center and subsequently placed on probation.

Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Scott, 214 W. Va. 1, 585 S.E.2d 1 (2003) (internal quotation and citation

omitted), disapproved of on other grounds by State v. Middleton, 220 W. Va. 89, 640 S.E.2d 152

(2006). Moreover, in State v. Richards, this Court has noted that, in considering revocations

following placement in the Anthony Center:

§ 25-4-6 precludes a sentencing court from considering conduct that follows a defendant's placement in the youthful offender program. The Court notes, however, that the Act imposes no such limitation in situations where a defendant is returned to the circuit court as unfit for inclusion in the program. We can only surmise that the Legislature, in creating this disparity, intended to provide an incentive for individuals to complete the program of rehabilitation.

Richards, 206 W. Va. at 576 n. 5, 526 S.E.2d at 542 n. 5. In recognizing the incentive for offenders placed at the Anthony Center to complete the program, it cannot reasonably be argued that the Legislature conversely intended a less stringent standard for those who fail to complete the program due to their non-compliance or behaviors while at the facility. If, as this Court has recognized, a sentencing court has no discretion to either reduce or increase one's sentence when he or she successfully completes the Anthony Center, but is later found to have violated the terms of the ensuing probationary period, it makes no logical sense to conclude that one who is returned to the sentencing court after failing to complete the Anthony Center is subject to a less stringent standard.

The particular facts outlined in *Richard* are illustrative of this concept. In Richards. Richards was convicted of two counts of aggravated robbery and was sentenced to two concurrent eighteen-year prison terms. Id. at 574, 526 S.E.2d at 540. Richards moved for, and was granted a reduction of sentence, wherein the court suspended his sentence and placed him at the Anthony Center. Id. He went on to complete the program and was released on probation, as required by the Youthful Offenders Act. Id. After being placed on probation, the State filed a motion to revoke on the basis that Richards had committed various rules violations. Id. When he returned to the circuit court for further sentencing, the court imposed a sentence of two concurrent twenty-five year prison terms-a sentence that amounted to a seven-year increase from his initial sentence that the court previously suspended. Id. On appeal, this Court reversed the circuit court's increased sentence, and explained that when a defendant is placed on probation following successful completion of the program at the Anthony Center, but the probationary period is later revoked, West Virginia Code § 25-4-6 confers no discretion for the circuit court to "impose anything other than the sentence that the defendant would have originally received had he or she not been committed to a youthful offender center and subsequently placed on probation." Id. at Syl. Pt. 4.

Based upon the clear guidance provided by this Court with respect to a sentencing court's lack of discretion in imposing a sentence following one's successful completion of the Anthony Center and subsequent probation revocation, the only logical conclusion that can be gleaned is that the same applies for those who are returned for further sentencing after being found unfit to remain at the Anthony Center. To conclude otherwise would go against the incentive for offenders to complete the program as recognized by this Court. *See Id.* at 576 n. 5, 526 S.E.2d at 542 n. 5.

This Court's precedent is clear: "W. Va. Code, 25-4-6 does not allow a trial court discretion to impose any less than the original sentence when a male defendant, who has served at a youth

correction facility, violates his probation agreement." Syl., *Patterson*, 170 W. Va. 721, S.E.2d 684; Syl., *State v. Martin*, 196 W.Va. 376, 472 S.E.2d 822 (1996). Petitioner's argument that the circuit court erred by failing to consider various mitigating factors at the July 21, 2021 hearing is, therefore, completely unsupported by legal authority, and further would be inconsistent with the policies that undergird the utility and purpose of placing offenders at the Anthony Center.

3. Even if West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) applied to Petitioner's July 21, 2021 hearing, it does not impose an obligation upon the court to consider mitigating factors that an accused makes no attempt to prove through the introduction of evidence in support of the mitigating factor.

This Court has recognized "[t]hat which is necessarily implied in a statute, or must be included in it in order to make the terms actually used have effect, according to their nature and ordinary meaning, is as much a part of it as if it had been declared in express terms." Syl. Pt. 1, *Ney v. State Work. Comp. Comm'r.*, 171 W. Va. 13, 297 S.E.23 212 (1982) (internal quotation and citations omitted). "[*N*]oscitur a sociis, [is] the well-worn Latin phrase that tells us that statutory words are often known by the company they keep." *Lagos v. United States*, 138 S. Ct. 1684, 1688-89 (2018). Under this doctrine, courts have also recognized that it serves to "avoid ascribing to one word a meaning so broad that it is inconsistent with its accompanying words, thus giving unintended breadth to the Acts of Congress." *Yates v. United States*, 574 U.S. 528, 543 (2015); see also Freeman v. Quicken Loans, Inc., 566 U.S. 624, 634-35 (2012) ("the commonsense canon of noscitur a sociis—which counsels that a word is given more precise content by the neighboring words with which it is associated." (internal quotation and citation omitted)).

West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) clearly requires a sentencing court to consider the listed mitigating factors set forth in numbers (1) through (15). The question, however, is whether the word "shall" creates an unconditional duty upon the court to unconditionally consider each of the factors, regardless of whether there is any evidence presented in support of them, or if it is a

conditional directive, dependent upon the offer of some evidence showing the presence of mitigating information. A reading of the relevant provision clearly demonstrates the latter to be true.

West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) clearly sets forth that when an individual who has been transferred to the adult criminal jurisdiction of the circuit court and has been subsequently convicted as an adult, "the court shall consider the following mitigating circumstances." The statute then goes on to list a total of fifteen factors for the court to consider. The final factor, however, provides that a court shall consider "any other mitigating factor or circumstances." W. Va. Code § 61-11-23(c)(15).

First, it is important to note that the word "shall" as used in subsection (c) is not without qualification: it clearly identifies the factors that follow as "*mitigating* circumstances." W. Va. Code § 61-11-23(c) (emphasis added). If Petitioner's argument holds true, what is the court to do when any of those factors prove to be *aggravating* circumstances? It is easy to consider circumstances in which any of the factors identified in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) could be either mitigating or aggravating depending upon the particular facts of each case. For example, a child's lack of "impetuous" behaviors throughout his or her life may be mitigating in one case, but a child's long documented history of "impetuous" behaviors is aggravating. Similar analogies can be made with each of the factors listed in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c). It therefore becomes clear why it cannot be true that a court is obligated to consider the various factors outlined in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) regardless of whether the offender makes an attempt to prove any of the factors to support the mitigation of his sentence.

Moreover, and in consideration of the canon of *noscitur a sociis*, when the phrase "shall consider the following *mitigating* circumstances" is considered, *see* W. Va. Code § 61-11-23(c)

(emphasis added), along with the last factor that requires consideration of "[a]ny other mitigating factor or circumstance," *id.* at (c)(15), the only conclusion that can be drawn is that the statute contemplates that each of the factors are, in fact, mitigating, and that they have been affirmatively shown to be such by the presentation of evidence. If there is no evidence provided by the defendant with respect to any of the factors listed, there is no way for the court to determine whether they are mitigating in the first instance. Moreover, if the court is to consider "[a]ny other mitigating factor or circumstance," but the defendant does not offer any evidence in support of some other mitigating factor not enumerated within the statute, it would imply that the sentencing court is obligated to conduct its own investigation in order to ascertain any conceivable mitigating fact. If Petitioner's argument that West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) imposes an unconditional obligation upon the court to consider each factor is true, a sentencing court's failure to identify any other possibly mitigating factor or circumstance could provide an appealable issue in every case that falls within the parameters of the statute.

Moreover, such an interpretation would fly in the face of the clear mandate for a judge to remain a neutral party in the outcome of a case. As this Court has astutely recognized:

A Judge is not expected to and should not summarily step from his judicial function and become an investigator, prosecutor, arresting officer, or instigator of legal actions, for when he does, he lessens the public confidence in the impartiality of his office. It is important that the Judge not only actually maintain integrity and impartiality, but that he must also give the appearance of such.

In re Goldston, ____ W. Va. ___, 866 S.E.2d 126, 138 (2021) (internal quotation omitted) (quoting W. Va. Jud. Inquiry Comm'n v. Dostert, 165 W. Va. 233, 237, 271 S.E.2d 427, 429-30 (1980)).

This Court has also explained:

In our adversarial system of jurisprudence, the judge is not a party, he is the referee. Canon 3, Judicial Code of Ethics. The judge is an official of an athletic event; and umpire or referee in a ballgame. As his duty, he must require all of the participants to play by the rules. The referee or umpire must not become an adversarial participant in the scenario for if he does, he brings discredit to the integrity of the system. For a judge to participate as an adversary denies to the people one fundamental element of due process: the right to an unbiased tribunal. W. Va. Const. art. 3, s 17.

State ex rel. Skinner v. Dostert, 166 W. Va. 743, 757-58, 278 S.E.2d 624, 643 (1981); see also State v. Wotring, 167 W. Va. 104, 112, 279 S.E.2d 182, 188 (1981) (recognizing that a judge is required to "maintain the integrity and independence of the judiciary, Canon 1; to avoid even the appearance of impropriety, Canon 2; and, to act impartially, Canon 3."). A judge presiding over a criminal case has no authority to investigate issues on behalf of a defendant. Petitioner in the present case did not present evidence in support of each of the factors identified in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c). If it is true that the court was required to consider each of those factors, despite Petitioner failing to offer proof of many of them, and, thus, resulting in reversible error, such a conclusion would necessarily create a quandary where a judge must choose between honoring his or her ethical obligations, or risk a subsequent reversal of his or her sentencing determination. Even more alarming is that the Court would have no ability to prevent this particular dilemma from arising in any case as it would only arise upon the defendant's failure to offer evidence or proof of a particular factor. Even more, the last provision requiring the court to consider any other factor or circumstance presents an unclear and burdensome obligation upon the Court because, if a court is required to consider any other mitigating factor, how would it know that the evidence proffered by the defendant was complete? Thus, Petitioner's interpretation would likely impose an obligation upon the court to conduct investigations in every case that falls within the scope of the statute. This interpretation clearly creates a conflict between the law, and a judge's ethical obligations. There is no reason to believe that the legislature intended for such a conflict to result, or to place the legality of one's sentence upon the sentencing court's investigation conducted on his or her own behalf. Petitioner's argument invites this court to adopt an

interpretation of West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c) that would require judges to violate their ethical obligations and step into the role of an investigator or advocate on the behalf of a convicted individual in order to protect the integrity of the sentence imposed. It cannot reasonably be argued that, in light of this Court's long-held standard of reviewing sentences imposed by a court of competent jurisdiction under a deferential standard, that it must reverse a sentence should the sentencing judge elect to abide by his or her ethical obligations.

The only logical interpretation of West Virginia Code § 61-11-23 is that the Legislature intended for sentencing courts to consider any mitigating factor that is affirmatively presented by the defendant. It would make little sense to impose an obligation upon the court to consider a list of "mitigating factors" when any one of those factors may be mitigating in one case, or aggravating in another. Moreover, the placement of the catch-all provision in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c)(15) clearly demonstrates that the list is not intended to be an exclusive list. Moreover, it cannot be the case that a sentencing just must step aside from its role as a neutral arbiter of justice in order to conduct an investigation on behalf of a party—an act in clear violation of the canons of the Judicial Code of Ethics—in order to protect the integrity of a sentence it imposed.

It goes without saying that each case is unique, as are the individuals involved in them. While it is certainly necessary to consider mitigating factors prior a court making any sentencing determination, to state that the factors listed in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23 will always provide mitigating information to the court is simply inaccurate.

For all of the reasons outlined above, Petitioner's first assignment of error is without merit and does not provide any grounds for this Court to grant the relief he seeks.

C. Petitioner's sentence was not disproportionate, was within the statutory limits, and was not based on any impermissible factor.

Petitioner's second assignment of error raises similar arguments to that presented in his first assignment of error. Petitioner claims in his second assignment of error that the circuit court imposed a constitutionally disproportionate sentence based upon its failure to consider all of the factors set forth in West Virginia Code § 61-11-23(c). Pet'r's Br. at 12-13. Rather than identifying a particular impermissible factor that would trigger this Court's review, however, he merely alleges that the failure to consider certain factors renders his sentence unconstitutional. Pet'r's Br. at 13. Petitioner then goes on to claim that the court failed to consider Petitioner's "mental disability" or "impairment" prior to imposing its sentence. Pet'r's Br. at 13-14.

As noted above, this Court "reviews sentencing orders . . . under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands." Syl. Pt. 1, *Lucas*, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221. "Sentences imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based on some impermissible factor, are not subject to appellate review." Syl. Pt. 4, *Goodnight*, 169 W. Va. 366, 287 S.E.2d 504. Moreover, this Court has stated that "[w]e deem it generally to be the better practice to decline to review sentences that are within statutory limits and where no impermissible sentence factor is indicated in accord with Syllabus Point 4 of *State v. Goodnight*." *State v. Slater*, 222 W. Va. 499, 508, 665 S.E.2d 674, 683 (2008).

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